2001

Richard S. Bennett, Wallace F. Bennett, Harold H. Bennet, The Bennett Association v. Arney K. Downard V. Claris E. Johnson, Velma, Johnson, Boyd J. Clark, Iris J. Clark : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

Appellants were co-defendants with Arnel K. Downard in an action brought by plaintiff, Bennett's Association for judgment against defendants, Downard, for materials furnished Downard as a general contractor and against defendants, Johnson and Clark, as the owner of the property the materials were used on under 14-2-1

and 14-2-2, U. C. A. 1953, defendant, Downard cross-claimed for any judgment granted against him in favor of Bennett's Association and for the balance due on his contract with Taco Siesta International.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter was submitted to the jury on two special interrogatories as follows:

1) Do you find it proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Bennett's made demand upon defendant Johnson to exhibit the construction bond in question before the action was filed and that he did not reasonably comply?

Answer: Yes.

2) Do you find it proven by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant, Johnson, was a party to the contract marked, "Defendant's Exhibit 1?"

Answer: Yes.

As a result of the foregoing answers to special interrogatories, the court entered judgment against appellants as follows:

1. Plaintiffs have judgment against defendants Claris E. Johnson, Velma Johnson, Boyd J. Clark and Iris J. Clark, and that said defendants be jointly and severally liable with defendant Downard on said judgment in the sum of \$1,652.00 with interest in the sum of \$497.00, and court costs in the sum of \$72.00, for a total judgment in the sum of \$2,221.00.

2. That defendant Downard have judgment over against defendants Claris E. Johnson, Velma Johnson, Boyd J. Clark and Iris J. Clark in the sum of \$2,221.00 representing the amount of the judgment that has been rendered against defendant Downard, or any amount defendant Downard is forced to pay as a result of the judgment heretofore entered and further defendant Downard is entitled to judgment against defendants Claris E. Johnson, Velma Johnson, Boyd J. Clark, and Iris J. Clark in the sum of \$1,028.19 together with interest in the sum of \$308.40, and court costs in the sum of \$17.50, for a total judgment in the sum of \$1,354.09.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants Johnson and Clark seek a reversal of the verdict and judgment against them.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The record on appeal consists of two volumes, one of which consists of the pleadings, minute entries and similar papers. All references to this volume are designated by the letter "R." The other volume consists of the transcript of the testimony and proceedings held May 1, 1974. All references to this volume are designated by the letter, "T."

Defendants, Johnson and Clark, were the owners of real property located in South Ogden, Weber County, Utah. They were contacted by a California corporation known as Taco Siesta International about Taco Siesta

constructing a restaurant facility on their property. As a result, a contract was drawn up between Johnson and Clark and Taco Siesta (Defendant's Exhibit 2) wherein Johnson and Clark leased the real property to Taco Siesta; that Taco Siesta would construct a facility on the premises; that Johnsons and Clarks, as lessors, would furnish Thirty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$32,000.00) toward the construction costs. The contract further provided that the lessee (Taco Siesta) would engage in a contract with a suitable contractor duly bonded for the construction of the project. As part of the lease agreement that Johnson and Clark had with Taco Siesta (Defendant's Exhibit 2), the funds borrowed by Johnson and Clark were to be disbursed by a proper officer of the bank and any unused funds to remain to credit of lessor (Johnsons and Clarks). Taco Siesta was to also pay Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) as pre-payment of rental; said sum to be applied towards monthly rental at the rate of \$50.00 per month; with rent at \$650.00 per month to commence five (5) days after: a) filing of notice of completion; b) date premises opened to public or c) not longer than 90 days after construction funds available. The Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) check of Taco Siesta was not paid when initially presented for payment (Defendant's Exhibit 5) but was later honored and Taco Siesta failed to make the rental payments as agreed (T. 54, 55).

As a result of the contract between Johnsons and Clarks and Taco Siesta, Taco Siesta entered into a construction contract with defendant, Arnel K. Downard

(Defendant's Exhibit 1); the architect for Taco Siesta, Joe Lewis Wilkins, signed the contract in the place designated as "Owner," with his signature in long hand and underneath printed, "Taco Siesta for Clair Johnson." Clair Johnson did not enter into the contract with Downard, nor did he authorize Joe Lewis Wilkins to append "for Clair Johnson (T. 52) and defendant Downard never claims that Johnson did (T. 71), but to the contrary, Downard knew he had contracted with Taco Siesta, not Johnson (T. 71, 72, 73). Downard did obtain a construction bond from United States Fidelity and Guarantee Company in the contract amount of Thirty One Thousand, Eight Hundred and Sixty Dollars (\$31,860.00) (Plaintiff's Exhibit B).

Because of the apparent financial instability of Taco Siesta, in presenting the check that bounced and failing to pay the rent as agreed, Johnson instead of paying Taco Siesta the construction funds, paid them directly to Downard and the sub-contractors and materialmen by joint checks until he had paid Thirty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$32,000.00) less the unpaid rentals due him from Taco Siesta considering that the unpaid rental should be an offset against the Thirty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$32,000.00) (T. 54, 55). This manner of payment was with the consent of Taco Siesta representative (T. 41, 44). Plaintiff, Bennett Association, became apprehensive about not receiving payment from Downard. Mr. Richard Winters, credit manager for Bennetts contacted Mr. Johnson and in the conversation learned that

there was a contractor bond written by the United States Fidelity and Guarantee Company through Eastman Hatch Agency of Salt Lake City (T. 25). Mr. Winters was given the name of the agent and the serial number of the bond (T. 25) and as a result, contacted a Mr. Squires at the Eastman Hatch Agency and was told that the bond did exist; that it did not accrue to the protection of the materialmen (T. 26, 85). Mr. Winters claims to have made a request for a copy of the bond or to exhibit it on request (T. 82). Mr. Winters admitted that he, upon contacting the agent for the bonding company, was as knowledgeable about the content of the bond as if it had been personally exhibited to him (T. 89, 90). The court ruled that the bond (Plaintiff's Exhibit B) was sufficient and adequately protected Bennett's Association (T. 91, 92).

At the conclusion of plaintiffs' and defendants' evidence, Johnson and Clark moved for dismissal of Bennett's complaint and Downard's cross-complaint (T. 96). These motions were denied.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

**THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANTS' JOHNSON'S AND CLARK'S MOTION TO DISMISS BENNETT'S COMPLAINT.**

Plaintiff, Bennett's Association, claim against John-

son and Clark is based on 14-2-1, U. C. A., 1953, which provides insofar as pertinent herein:

“*The owner of any interest in land* (emphasis ours) entering into a contract involving \$500.00 or more for the construction, addition to or alteration or repair of any building, or structure or improvement upon land, shall before any such work is commenced obtain from the contractor a bond \* \* \* conditioned for the prompt payment for material furnished and labor performed under the contract \* \* \*. The bond provided for herein shall be exhibited to any person interested upon request.”

and 14-2-2, U. C. A., 1953, which provides insofar as pertinent hereto:

“Any person subject to the provision of this chapter who shall fail to obtain such good and sufficient bond or to exhibit the same as herein required, shall be personally liable to all persons who have furnished material or performed labor under the contract \* \* \*.

The facts have shown that it was not the *owner* (emphasis ours) who entered into the contract with Bennetts but Downard who was contractor for Taco Siesta. And that there was no contract existing between Johnson and Clark and Downard. It is granted that in the absence of a bond or proper exhibition of the same, Taco Siesta would be liable on their leasehold interest for the price agreed upon (*King's Brother's, Inc. vs. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, 440 Pacific 2nd 17), but the statute

if it means what it says provides that *the owner of the interest* (emphasis ours) in land cannot be held personally responsible *unless said owner has entered into the contract* (emphasis ours) for the improvements. There is no provision in law or equity for an owner to be personally liable for obligations incurred by the lessee without the owner's authorization (*King Brother's, Inc. vs. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, 440 Pacific 2nd 17). There is a correlation between the statutes above cited and the mechanic's lien law of our state. 38-1-3, U. C. A., 1953, provides that the authorization for the material furnished or labor performed upon which the lien is based must be at "the instance of the owner of any other person acting by his authorization as agent, contractor or otherwise." The owner in the instant case did not contract with the contractor for the construction of improvements upon his land nor did he authorize the contractor to obtain materials and labor from Bennett's on his behalf. The question to be answered therefore, is whether the lessee through his contract can make the owner liable under 14-2-1 and 14-2-2, U. C. A., 1953. The answer based upon the reasoning of *King Brother's, Inc. vs. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, previously cited seems to be in the negative.

In the event that the court was to conclude that the lessee, without authorization, can make the owner liable for improvements constructed at the request of lessee or his agent (contractor). We must then look to whether a bond was provided, whether the bond was sufficient

and whether it was exhibited to any person interested upon request.

A bond was provided (Plaintiff's Exhibit B). It was sufficient to protect Bennett's Association (T. 91, 92), *Deluxe Glass Company vs. Martin*, 208 Pacific 2nd 1127 (Utah). The testimony shows that there was a casual conversation between Bennett's man Winters and Johnson around October 29, 1969, wherein Winters *seems* to recall the request but at any event, both parties recall that Bennett's were given the name of the bonding company, the name of the agent in Salt Lake City and pursuant thereto Bennett's man Winters contacted the agent and learned of the existence of the bond and according to his own admission, knew as much of the contents of the bond as if it had been personally exhibited to him (T. 89, 90). What more would have Bennett's learned if they had had the bond in their hands. We submit that if there was a substantial exhibition of the bond to Bennett's sufficient for them to protect their interest, the statute was complied with. After the suit was filed by Bennett's, a copy of the bond was furnished to them (R. 4, 7).

## POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO  
GRANT DEFENDANTS' JOHNSON'S AND  
CLARK'S MOTION TO DISMISS DEFEN-  
DANT DOWNARD'S CROSS-CLAIM  
AGAINST JOHNSON AND CLARK.

The evidence is uncontroverted that Johnson and Clark contracted only with Taco Siesta. In their lease (Defendant's Exhibit 2) there was a specific provision that the lessee (Taco Siesta) would contract with the contractor. None of the defendants, Johnson or Clark, signed the agreement between Taco Siesta and Downard (Defendant's Exhibit 1), nor was there any evidence that the architect, Joe Lewis Wilkins, was acting as the agent for these defendants. Johnson became involved with Downard only because of the apparent financial instability of Taco Siesta and Johnson paid the money to Downard and the sub-contractors so that they would get their money and Johnson would not be stuck with liens. Johnson paid Downard only with the consent of Taco Siesta's architect and upon the submission of an account (T. 44, 46) (Defendant's Exhibit 6).

It is unbelievable that anyone could consider that because Johnson paid Downard the moneys instead of Taco Siesta that this created a contract with Johnson, and Downard is not entitled from Johnson and Clark the balance of the money due him from Taco Siesta.

Downard was also awarded a judgment against Johnson and Clark for the sum of Twenty-Two Hundred Dollars and Twenty-One Cents (\$2,200.21) representing the amount of the judgment that has been rendered against defendant Downard or any amount defendant Downard is forced to pay as result of the judgment heretofore entered against Downard by Bennett's.

There is simply no legal theory whereby the con-

trator who failed to pay materialmen is entitled to a judgment against a party with whom he has no privity, with whom he has not contracted and who has not agreed in law or equity, expressly or by implication, to reimburse him.

Because there was no express contract between Downard and Johnsons and Clarks, if a contract existed, it would have to be based upon implication. This is not the case here because of the knowledge of Downard that he contracted only with Taco Siesta.

“An implied contract between two parties is only raised when the facts are such that an intent may fairly be inferred on their part to make such a contract.” American Jurisprudence, Vol. 12, page 500, Sec. 5.

In *McCaffrey vs. Cronin*, 295 Pacific 2nd 587 (Cal.):

“It is said that an implied contract is one not expressed by the parties, but gathered from the facts showing *a mutual intent to contract*.” (Emphasis ours.)

From *Corpus Juris Secundum*, Volume 17, Section 4, page 557, it is stated:

“A contract “implied in fact” \* \* \* or an implied contract in the proper sense arises where the intention of the parties is not expressed but an agreement in fact creating an obligation is implied or presumed from their acts or as it has been otherwise stated where there are circum-

stances which according to the ordinary course of dealing and the common understanding of men show a mutual intent to contract. It has been said that a contract implied in fact must contain all of the elements of an expressed contract. So such a contract is dependent on mutual agreement or consent and on the intention of the parties and a meeting of the minds is required."

See also Restatement of Contracts Section 5:

*Gleason vs. Salt Lake City*, 74 Pacific 2nd 1225;  
*Kimball Elevator Company vs. Elevator Supplies Co.*, 272 P. 2 583, 2 Ut. 2d 289.

There can be no other conclusion derived from the facts than 1) Johnson intended to contract only with Taco Siesta; 2) Downard intended to contract only with Taco Siesta. Therefore, there is no contract express or implied between the parties and no basis for the verdict of the jury and the judgment of the court. (*Baugh vs. Darley*, 184 Pac. 2 335, 112 Ut. 1.)

### POINT III.

#### COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBER 2.

The Court erred in giving instruction number 2 and particularly interrogatory number 2 in the instructions and the explanation thereunder for the reason that there is no evidence whatsoever that the defendant, Johnson, was a party to the contract marked Defendant's Ex-

hibit 1. Defendant, Downard, admits that he contracted with Taco Siesta. No where on the contract does the signature of defendant, Johnson appear and the record is completely devoid of any evidence that the statement "for Clair Johnson" was printed on the contract by any authority or consent of defendant, Johnson. The evidence is all to the fact that defendant, Downard, knew that he had contracted with Taco Siesta.

The Court further erred in giving the explanation to interrogatory number 2 in that there is no evidence that the defendants, Johnson and Clarks, knew that the contract had been executed and that Joe Lewis Wilkins, the architect for Taco Siesta, had noted that he signed as owner for Claire Johnson and that Johnsons and Clarks knew that an innocent person was relying thereon. In this respect, Downard was certainly not an innocent person because he knew that the only contract that he had executed was with Taco Siesta. Further, how can it be seriously claimed that Johnson and Clarks "deliberately lay back and secretly let others complete the project believing that he was a party to the contract." Johnson and Clarks as has been stated, at all times took the position that the contract was between Downard and Taco Siesta; that Johnson paid Downard with the consent of the architect of Taco Siesta and only to protect Downard and his sub-contractor and to make certain that when the facility was completed that there were no liens upon the premises.

## POINT IV.

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO  
SUSTAIN THE VERDICT OF THE JURY.

This matter was submitted to the jury upon two special interrogatories found in instruction number 2. Interrogatory number 1 is as follows:

“Do you find it proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Bennett’s made demand upon defendant, Johnson, to exhibit the construction bond in question before the action was filed and that he did not reasonably comply.”

Interrogatory number 2:

“Do you find it proven by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant, Johnson, was a party to the contract marked Defendant’s Exhibit Number 1.”

In the court’s explanation following interrogatory number 1, it stated, “If Bennett’s made a demand to see the bond and they were reasonably provided with a satisfactory method to secure the necessary information so that such information was reasonably made available to them, then there would be no material breach by Johnson.”

As stated before, on or before October 29, 1969, Bennett’s man, Winter, was informed of the existence of the bond, the name of the bonding company and that the bonding company’s agent was Eastman Hatch Company

in Salt Lake City, Utah and that thereafter, he contacted the bonding agent and was informed of the existence of the bond, but was misled by the bonding company's agent in believing that the bond did not cover Bennett's claim which was untrue, as was found by the court. At this point, Bennett's had all of the information they would have had had they examined the bond personally and had the knowledge in time to have filed a claim under the bond before the statute of limitations ran out against it and therefore, there was no material breach by Johnson and the jury failed to follow the court's instruction and had it done so, would have found in favor of Johnson on this issue.

In regard to interrogatory number 2, the evidence is insufficient to sustain the jury's answer to interrogatory number 2 for reasons stated before and so as not to be repetitious, they are briefly, that Johnsons and Clarks never entered into a contract with Downard, did not authorize anyone else to enter into a contract for them with Downard, did not at any time intend to enter into a contract with Downard and the evidence is that Downard knew that he was contracting with Taco Siesta and not with Johnson.

#### POINT V.

THE COURT ERRED IN INFORMING THE JURY THAT IF MR. JOHNSON SUSTAINED ANY LOSS THAT THE BONDING COMPANY WOULD PAY FOR SUCH LOSS.

If any explanation can be made for the jury, answering the interrogatories numbers 1 and 2, as they did, it may be very well found in the comments of the court as found on page 91 and 92 of the transcript, wherein the court informs the jury as to its determination that the bond is sufficient, makes an explanation of bonds in general and states as follows, "The bonding company insofar as the court is aware, is still valid, solvent and will stand any loss Mr. Johnson takes in this matter. That is true, if Mr. Johnson suffers a loss merely because he is a landowner."

This statement was objected to by counsel, but to no avail, and the court did not attempt to rectify the situation.

To a jury that perhaps could not remember the assertions or denials of the parties; to fail to understand, "Preponderance of evidence" or to remember all of the evidence, this gave them the easy out because then no one would be hurt because Downard could be given a judgment against Johnson, Johnson could make a claim against the bonding company which would not occasion him a loss and the bonding company was not in court.

## CONCLUSION

There was insufficient evidence to warrant a submission of the case to the jury. Defendant Johnson's and Clark's motion should have been granted. There was insufficient evidence upon which the jury could answer

the interrogatories as they did and therefore, the judgment against Johnsons and Clarks in favor of Bennett's and Downard should be reversed.