1975

Richard S. Bennett, Wallace F. Bennett And Harold H. Bennett Association v. Arnel K. Downard v. Claris E. Johnson And Velma Johnson And Boyd J. Clark And Iris J. Clark : Brief of Plaintiffs-Respondents Bennett

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

There is another reason why the Bond in the case at bar is insufficient to satisfy the statute in question: *It is totally void by reason of the breach of the terms thereof by the Obligees, the defendants Johnson and*

Clark. This would be true even if the Bennetts, contrary to the considerations above set out, could be held to be third party beneficiaries of the bonding company's obligation to the Johnsons and Clarks and entitled to sue thereon if the Johnsons and Clarks could sue thereon.

It will be recalled that the Bond contained a specific provision that "the surety shall not be liable under this Bond . . . unless said Obligees, or either of them, *shall make payments to the Principal (Downard) strictly in accordance with the terms of said contract as to payment . . .*" (Emphasis Supplied.)

The contract and the Bond required Johnson and Clark as owners to pay the contractor Downard \$31,860.00, exclusive of landscaping, blacktop and fill, as the contract price. However, it will be remembered that Johnson, in breach of this condition of the Bond admitted and testified under oath that he paid Downard or his sub-contractors a total of *only* \$29,179.81. (R. 253-254.) And it will be remembered that Johnson himself managed and controlled all payments directly.

This manifestly breached the condition of the Bond so that the bonding company was released even from its agreed direct liability to Johnson. Clearly where the direct Obligee had no claim against the company, one holding a derivative claim as a possible third party beneficiary, could have no claim.

Accordingly there was no effective Bond to protect the Bennetts, by reason of Johnson's breach and default,

and Bennetts are entitled to have their judgment against the owners affirmed for failure to provide and maintain an effective Bond to protect the Bennetts as materialmen and laborers.

It is respectfully submitted that the foregoing considerations require that the judgment below be affirmed, and make it unnecessary to consider other questions raised by the appellants. However, as in duty bound, and in an attempt to assist the court, we shall consider the other points involved.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING JOHNSON AND CLARK'S MOTION TO DISMISS BENNETTS' COMPLAINT.

Under POINT I of the ARGUMENT in appellants' brief, the appellants contend that the court should have granted their motion, made at the conclusion of the evidence, for the dismissal of Bennetts' complaint. This contention, is in turn based upon the unfounded assumption that the facts and evidence show that there was no contract entered into by the Johnsons and the Clarks for the construction of the building in question upon the land admittedly owned by the Johnsons and Clarks. We shall not burden the court with a repetition of the evidence presented, as hereinbefore set out in our Statement of Facts, but shall merely recall that the basic AGREEMENT, Defendants' Exhibit 2, between the Johnsons and the Clarks and Taco Siesta was itself clearly and un-

disputedly "a contract involving \$500 or more for the construction . . . of any building . . . upon land," within the terms of the statute. And in recognition of the obligation of the owners, Johnson and Clark, it required that the actual contractor to be selected (with only the "approval" of the Lessee), to be "duly bonded." Further, Johnson demanded and received from Downard a Bond to indemnify him. The trouble was, that the Bond was in substance an indemnity bond for Johnsons and Clarks, and not a payment bond for laborers and materialmen, and it was invalidated by Johnson's breach thereof in refusing to pay Downard the full amount of the contract price, as required by the terms thereof.

Furthermore, the actual construction contract with Downard was in the name of Johnson, the managing partner for the Johnsons and Clarks, a role which he, with notice of that fact in the Bond, proceeded to accept and exploit by controlling all of the payments made out of the funds provided by Johnsons and Clarks, as contracting owners, for the construction of the building on their land. And the jury, after hearing all of the evidence and the arguments of counsel, found that it was proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant, Johnson, was a party to the construction contract with Downard, Defendants' Exhibit 1. Clearly there is some evidence to support the jury's verdict, which is therefore conclusive. We respectfully submit that the trial court committed no error in denying the motion of defendants

Johnson and Clark for dismissal of the plaintiffs' complaint.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING JOHNSON AND CLARK'S MOTION TO DISMISS DEFENDANT DOWNARD'S CROSS-CLAIM AGAINST THEM.

In responding to this issue raised by "POINT II" of the appellants' brief, the Bennetts should observe that they are only indirectly interested in Mr. Downard's judgment against the Johnsons and the Clarks for the balance due on his construction contract. They do ~~not~~ have an interest, as they have a judgment against Downard, ~~but~~ ^{and} it would appear that Downard can pay Bennetts only if the Johnsons and Clarks pay him what what they owe. However Bennetts wish only to be paid once for their materials and labor.

No doubt Mr. Downard's counsel will argue this matter more fully, but Bennetts are content to submit this matter upon the evidence hereinbefore summarized, and upon the special verdict of the jury to the effect that Johnson was a party to and bound by the construction contract made in his name by the architect and accepted and confirmed by him ~~in his name by the architect and accepted and confirmed by him by his subsequent actions.~~ ^{by his subsequent actions} Perhaps it might be helpful to the court to add that even if the contract had been executed between Taco Siesta and Downard, the Johnsons and

Clarks would be bound thereby because, as heretofore indicated, the formation of the contract, if made by Taco Siesta, would have been in furtherance of a joint enterprise, and Taco Siesta was, under the basic agreement, Defendants' Exhibit 2, the effective agent of the Johnson and the Clarks for the purpose of effecting a a construction contract for the improvement of their land so that it could be leased to Taco Siesta.

There was no error in the trial court's denial of appellants' motion to dismiss Downard's cross-claim against the Johnsons and Clarks.

POINT V.

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBER 2.

Under POINT III of their brief the appellants Johnson and Clark take exception to the court's submitting to the jury interrogatory number 2, with the related explanation, inquiring whether it was proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant Johnson was a party to the construction contract Defendants' Exhibit 1. Appellants contend that there was no evidence whatsoever in the record to justify the submission of this issue to the jury for decision. Apparently not only the court, but the jury disagree with appellants' position, for the jury *unanimously* returned its special verdict to the effect that it was proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Johnson was a party to the construction contract.

This contention of appellants is a clear sample of "wishful thinking," for the record of the testimony and the exhibits are replete with evidence supporting the conclusion that Johnson, as managing partner of appellants' partnership, was a party to the construction contract.

First, the basic agreement, Defendants' Exhibit 2, providing for the construction of the building to improve appellants' land at their expense, clearly establishes a joint enterprise for such construction, in which each party would be the agent of the other for the purpose of accomplishing the project, and also the agency of Taco Siesta for the owner in obtaining a contractor to accomplish this basic purpose. The evidence clearly establishes that the architect, Wilkins, was retained as the acting representative of the parties to the joint enterprise. Although Downard admitted that he quoted a construction contract price, in the first instance, to a Taco Siesta representative, he further testified that in this case, as in other cases in which he had built restaurants for owners leasing to Taco Siesta, his dealing with respect to the actual contract and the performance thereof were entirely with the property owners. The architect Wilkins prepared a printed form of construction contract in the name of appellant Johnson, the managing partner, and pursuant to the authority contained in the basic agreement, signed the same for Johnson. Johnson himself admitted, under oath, that he, as owners' representative, personally demanded of Downard that he be furnished

with a contractor's surety bond, and that pursuant to this demand the Bond was mailed to him sometime in August, shortly after the construction contract was signed and the job began. This bond, Plaintiffs' Exhibit B, specifically names Claris E. Johnson as the Obligee and recites that the Principal Downard has executed and entered into a certain contract "*with said Obligee*" for the construction of the restaurant. Johnson, apparently an experienced businessman, never took any exception to this recital in the Bond, but instead of turning over the agreed amount of money to Taco Siesta, proceeded personally to make all progress payments to Downard and the sub-contractors and materialmen out of the funds furnished by the appellants Johnson and Clark. The uncontradicted testimony of both Downard and Johnson is to the effect that Johnson never told Downard that he should deal with Taco Siesta rather than with Johnson as the contracting owner, but personally paid to Downard and/or the sub-contractors all of the sums of money due under the construction contract, and controlled the same, paying on every occasion with checks either personally signed by Johnson as maker, or made by the lending bank to Johnson and Clark and endorsed by them and delivered to Downard or the sub-contractors.

So far as the appellants' contention that there is no evidence that Johnson knew that the contract had been executed by Wilkins for Johnson, the statement made in the brief is just completely unjustified in view of the

record, and particularly in view of the fact that the contractor's Bond, Exhibit B, received by Johnson, recites that Johnson is a party to the contract. Johnson is clearly charged, as a matter of law, with notice of the contents of the Bond demanded by and furnished to him. He had the means and the opportunity in his hands to establish this fact, and Bennetts were certainly not charged with any notice to the contrary.

It is the established and unvarying rule of this Honorable Court, under the Constitution of Utah relating to jury trials, that the reviewing Appellate Court will not disturb a jury verdict so long as there is any evidence from which, together with fair inferences that may be drawn therefrom, reasonable minds could conclude as the jury did. See

Gordon v. Provo City, 15 Ut. 2nd 287, 391 Pac. 2nd 430;

Brunson v. Strong, 17 Ut. 2nd 364, 412 Pac. 2nd 451; and

In Re Estate of Hubbard, 30 Ut. 2nd 260, 516 Pac. 2nd 741.

POINT VI.

THE COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR BY ADVISING THE JURY OF THE NATURE OF THE BOND, PLAINTIFFS' EXHIBIT B, AND COMMENTING THAT THE BONDING COMPANY "INSOFAR AS THE COURT IS AWARE" WILL STAND ANY LOSS MR.

JOHNSON TAKES "MERELY BECAUSE HE IS A LANDOWNER." THE CLAIMED ERROR, IF ANY, IS HARMLESS.

The Surety Bond, Plaintiffs' Exhibit B, was stipulated to be the original of the Bond furnished by Mr. Downard in connection with the job, as the Bond was furnished to the Johnsons and the Clarks, and was received in evidence on that stipulation. (R. 245.) The one provision of the Bond which was specifically read to the jury and emphasized was the last paragraph on Page 1 containing the proviso that in no event shall the surety company be subject to any suit action or other proceeding thereto that is instituted later than 1 year after date of completion, which was March 11. (R. 246.) The Bond was in the jury's possession and available for review during the jury's deliberations. The record shows that after the court made its comment on the Bond and counsel for appellants objected, the court then gave the following further instruction to the jury relating to the matter:

You must understand that the question that is going to be put to you regarding — so that parties understand it before they rest completely on the evidence, — the issue will be between the plaintiff and the defendants and Johnson insofar as direct recovery of Bennetts against Johnson *will depend upon whether or not Bennetts had reasonable access when asked for the Bond. If they had reasonable access to the Bond then they cannot go against Johnson as far as*

this situation is concerned, but if they did, if Johnson did not make the Bond reasonably available to them . . . then he is not protected by the statute and then he is liable. (R. 302-303.) (Emphasis Supplied.)

Then, the case *was not* submitted for a general verdict, but was submitted on a special interrogatory as to whether or not it was proven that Bennetts made demand on Johnson to exhibit the Bond and that they did not reasonably comply.

In the light of the court's immediate comment upon the true nature of the issue of fact, and in view of the nature of the special interrogatory submitted to the jury for its verdict, it cannot be presumed, or assumed, that the jury's special verdict was compelled or influenced by the fact that the judge said that "so far as he is aware" Johnson might have recourse against the bonding company for any loss sustained because he was a landowner. The court's supplementary comment and instruction made it abundantly clear that the jury was concerned only with the evidence as to the demand for access to the Bond and the response thereto.

Furthermore, the provision in the Bond limiting time for maintaining an action thereon was specifically called to the jury's attention and read to the jury when the Bond was introduced, and was again called the jury's attention by the nature of the objection made by appellants' counsel that "because of the passage of time the bonding company may say its not responsible and

that Mr. Johnson would have to file and pass along such claims within a certain time," and this was followed immediately by the court's further instruction that the jury would be concerned only with the determination, on the evidence, of whether or not the Bennetts had reasonable access when they asked for the Bond. (R. 302.)

Finally the court in its formal instructions carefully and correctly instructed the jury as to the issue to be decided with respect to the demand for and failure to exhibit the Bond, that the burden thereof was on the plaintiffs to prove the demand and the failure, and the customary instructions that the case must be decided solely upon the evidence received. The court further gave the standard instruction to the effect that if the court had done anything which suggested that it is inclined to favor the claim or position of either party the jury would not permit itself to be influenced by any such suggestion. (Court's Instruction, R. 151, 152, 155, 158 and 159.)

And finally, it is respectfully submitted that it is clear under all of the circumstances that even if it should be considered that the court, in making the comment on the Bond complained of, committed a technical error, it was harmless and could not affect the ultimate, proper outcome of the trial in favor of the plaintiffs Bennett.

First, it should be noted that Johnson at all material times had possession of the Bond and is charged with notice of its contents. From his own testimony it is apparent that he knew, long before the 1 year special

limitation elapsed, that Bennetts were asserting and pursuing a claim against him personally. If he failed to present his claim, it was due to his own neglect and failure to attend to his business as a reasonable, prudent business man. He cannot justly, equitably, or legally gain any advantage from his own neglect and default, as suggested by the argument of appellants' counsel. And as a party to the Bond he cannot be heard to deny knowledge of its contents. Indeed, in fairness to him and his counsel, it cannot be said that they do claim ignorance of the provisions of the Bond.

Lastly, and even more important, as hereinabove demonstrated under Points I and II of this brief, Bennetts were entitled to judgment against the Johnsons and the Clarks because the Bond furnished was legally insufficient as a matter of law, irrespective of whether or not demand for the exhibit of the Bond had been made and refused. In view of the form of the Bond and the conduct of the defendant Johnson, which is undisputed, the Bond was insufficient under the statute, so that issue settled by the jury becomes irrelevant, immaterial and unnecessary to the proper decision of the case in favor of the Bennetts.

For these reasons, the court's error in discussing the Bond with the jury, if any, was immaterial and harmless, and need not, and should not be considered in connection with the proper disposition of this appeal under the undisputed facts and the law. There is no reasonable likelihood that injustice has, in the end, resulted. In this

connection, see *Lamb v. Bangart*, Ut., 525 Pac. 2nd 602, Headnote 14.

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